A brief history of Reston, Virginia
BRIEF HISTORY OF RESTON, VIRGINIA

1 1649-1886: RESTON LAND BEFORE THE TWENTIETH CENTURY .......... 3
2 1886-1961: WHAT HAPPENED TO WIEHLE? .................. 5
3 1961-1963: GENESIS OF RESTON .......................... 9
4 1963-1967: RESTON, VIRGINIA, INC ..................... 15
5 1967-1969: GULF RESTON, INC ........................... 21
6 1970: A YEAR OF IMPRESSIVE GAINS ..................... 24
7 1971: FINAL MASTER PLAN GOAL FULFILLED .......... 31
8 1972: GROWTH CONTINUES ON SCHEDULE .............. 37

A Publication of Gulf Reston, Inc.
July, 1973
April, 1972
April, 1971
January, 1970

Copyright 1970 by Gulf Reston, Inc. Permission is hereby granted to quote or reproduce any portion of this book provided that credit is given to Gulf Reston, Inc.

Printed in the U. S. A.
RESTON LAND BEFORE THE 20th CENTURY
1649-1886:

The land on which Reston now stands first became a political entity in 1649 when King Charles II (exiled in France) deeded one-fifth of the present commonwealth of Virginia, a parcel of land known as the “Northern Neck Proprietary”, to seven noblemen. Lord Culpeper, one of the original seven, later acquired title to the entire parcel which in 1710 went to his daughter Catherine, Lady Fairfax.

The land remained in the Fairfax family for generations. In 1843 Thomas Fairfax, the Ninth Baron Cameron, deeded over 8,000 acres, including what is now Reston, to his son Reginald, who, in turn, sold the land to Benjamin Thornton in 1852 for $5.00 an acre.

Following the Civil War, the land became a favored area for speculation. In order to satisfy back taxes, the land was put up for auction in 1886 and sold to Dr. Carl Adolph Max Wiehle and William Dunn for $20,000.
WHAT HAPPENED TO WIEHLE?
1886-1961
New Town Predecessor

In 1881, Dr. Wiehle, a successful German-born physician from Philadelphia, retired from general practice at the age of 35 and brought his wife and children to Washington. The Washington and Old Dominion Railroad made it possible for fashionable Washington families to own summer homes in the nearby Fairfax County, Virginia area, and in 1886 Dr. Wiehle formed a partnership with William M. Dunn to buy at auction 6,449 acres of rolling, timbered land in Fairfax along the railroad in the area known as Thornton Station. The cost was less than $4 an acre. The land was later divided, with Dr. Wiehle taking the 3,228 acres north of the railroad tracks, where in 1888 he built a Victorian-style frame house with an elaborate white gazebo near the station. The house is no longer in existence, but the gazebo still stands beside Reston Avenue. About the same time he bought an additional 300 acres, including the land now the property of the Fairfax Hunt, for $10 an acre.

A man of prodigious energy and imagination, Wiehle must have found retirement at 35 unbearably dull, for he soon turned his attention to an ambitious project.

In his virgin forests of oak and hickory he envisioned a new town, complete with a hotel, industry, parks and a community center.

To lay out the town, Dr. Wiehle brought a planner from Germany, who used a modified grid pattern, which evolved from medieval European cities built inside walled fortresses for protection. The grid pattern was believed to bring the most economical use of land, and had been used for centuries, even where land was unlimited.
Although only a few of the streets were ever laid out, many of Wiehle’s plans were carried to completion.

In 1887, he succeeded in establishing a post office named Wiehle (rhymes with Greeley), which it was to remain until officially changed to Sunset Hills in 1923. A two-story brick Town Hall with an 80-pound bell in its steeple was built at the corner of Edmond and Lakeside Avenues. Church services were held on the second floor until the Wiehle Methodist Episcopal Church on New York Avenue was completed in 1907. The church was in regular use until 1939, but the pulpit and pews have long since disappeared and the Chapel, as it is now called, houses scenery for the Reston Players.

Of the planned 800 residences, only six or seven are known to have been erected.

All the homes were similar in design and construction — two stories and finished in white clapboard. The house Dr. Wiehle commissioned, as a replacement for his summer home, was an imposing brick mansion of 25 rooms.

Situated on a knoll behind the gazebo, it was completed in 1902. However, Dr. Wiehle died of pneumonia in 1901 and never occupied it. Within a few years after his death the town went into a slumber for 60 years.

Transportation was probably not a major problem. The Washington and Old Dominion Railroad, successor to several earlier lines, made the 20-odd mile trip from Washington to Wiehle in less than an hour. During the rainy season, when unpaved Route 606 became impassable, the train was used for the short trip to Herndon for supplies.

Furthermore, Wiehle’s overall plan did call for industry, as necessary then as today if a town is to be self-sufficient. A strip of land along the old Lakeside Avenue, strategically close to the railroad tracks, was set aside for industrial use, but the limited extent of the industry may have discouraged prospective residents. The first industry in the area included a mill built for the Maryland and Virginia Serpentine and Talc Company of Baltimore. A brick kiln and sawmill were established to supply materials for the construction of the town, and an ice house was built on the shore of one of three lakes which were hand-dug on the edge of town near the intersection of the railroad and Louis Avenue. Only the largest of the lakes remains today — the others were filled in during the widening and paving of Route 602.

The plan itself, though shortsighted by contemporary standards, probably was not responsible for the town’s arrested development. Irving Wasserman, a Chief Planner for Gulf Reston, said, “For its time the plan was rather advanced. However, its street design clearly shows its variance with modern street planning, which is geared to contemporary traffic needs and relates to the contours of the land.”

The streets themselves were 60 feet wide, and the main thoroughfare 70 feet. The geometric arrangement of the avenues resulted in many triangular lots which would have been difficult to use. Several of these oddly shaped parcels were designated as parks, pre-dating by more than half a century the “vest-pocket” parks now being introduced in New York City.

Economic conditions may have been a major factor in Wiehle’s failure. The country experienced a severe panic and depression just before the turn of the century, caused in part by the silver crisis. The silver dollar fell in value to 49 cents after western mines began to produce silver in unprecedented quantities in the late 1890s. Land values also fluctuated wildly, with some areas in the United States doubling in value between 1881 and 1887, and by 1892, the date of Wiehle’s completed plat, boom towns were turning to ghost towns as the inevitable deflation set in. Another factor in the plummeting land prices was the mechanization of farm production, which increased the yield per acre so that for the first time in history, production exceeded demand.

The most likely reason for the town’s early demise was the untimely death of its founder at
the age of 50. His sons did not share his enthusiasm for the project, so the plan gathered dust on a shelf and future expansion was abandoned. In 1908, Dr. Wieghe’s heirs sold 3,500 acres for $80,000, and the acreage was primarily used for farming for the next 15 years.

After changing hands several times, what was left of Wieghe was purchased by the A. Smith Bowman family in 1923, and a distillery — Virginia Gentleman — was established in the town’s old industrial buildings. The ice house became the office of the Internal Revenue agents assigned to the distillery, and the churchlike steeple was removed from the Town Hall so that the structure could be decently used for aging the barrels of whiskey. In 1947, the Bowmans purchased the former Dunn tract south of the railroad, bringing their total holdings to well over 7,000 acres. The property changed hands twice more before all but the portion occupied by the distillery and the former Wieghe mansion, now the home of A. Smith Bowman Jr., was acquired by Robert E. Simon, Jr., a man with a new dream he called Reston.

This history prepared and written by Barbara Stewart has been reprinted with her permission.

3

THE GENESIS OF RESTON 1961-1962:

Simon Enterprises, headed by Robert E. Simon, Jr., purchased 6,750 acres of the historical parcel of Virginia countryside in March 1961 from Lefcort Realty Corporation. The price of the purchase was $13,150,000 or $2,000 an acre, a long way from the $5.00 an acre paid by Benjamin Thornton 100 years earlier.

Before engaging architect, economist, sociologist and planner, Robert Simon set down seven goals which were to become the blueprint for the building of Reston (a name formed from his initials):

1. That the widest choice of opportunities be made available for the full use of leisure time. This means that the New Town should provide a wide range of recreational and cultural facilities as well as an environment for privacy.

2. That it be possible for anyone to remain in a single neighborhood throughout his life, uprooting being neither inevitable nor always desirable. By providing the fullest range of housing styles and prices—from high rise efficiencies to six-bedroom townhouses and detached houses—housing needs can be met at a variety of income levels, and at different stages of family life. This kind of mixture permits residents to remain rooted in the community—if they so choose—as their particular housing needs change. As a by-product, this also results in the heterogeneity that spells a lively and varied community.

3. That the importance and dignity of each individual be the focal point for all planning, and take precedence over large scale concepts.
4. That people may be able to live and work in the same community.

5. That commercial, cultural and recreational facilities be made available to the residents from the outset of the development—not years later.

6. That beauty—structural and natural—is a necessity of the good life and should be fostered.

7. That Reston be a financial success.

Simon wanted his country-city to be more than a place to live; he wanted Reston to be a way to live. He wanted to offer not only a new kind of housing scheme and a new relation of home to recreation, but another dimension—thoughtful planning for community life.

Frustrated by the disappointments of family life in suburbia, incensed by the enormous waste of time commuting from home to city, disillusioned by the asphalt wilderness of the regional shopping center, Bob Simon looked to Reston as a creative solution to America's increasing urban crisis.

Reston was soon to become the first major effort in the United States to build a full-scale self-contained city on the perimeter of a larger metropolitan area.

Simon was familiar with the ten satellite cities, of 30,000 residents each, which Leonardo da Vinci had proposed for Milan in 1484 as a solution to the overcrowding which brought on the Black Plague that same year. Bob Simon was no stranger to the works of Ebenezer Howard (1850-1928) whose book Garden Cities of Tomorrow (1902) inspired England's first city-in-the-country, Letchworth. Simon's father was involved in financing America's first garden city in 1928, Radburn, New Jersey.

Assisting the planners of Radburn, Clarence Stein and Henry Wright, was a young architect, Julian Whittlesey. It was to the firm of Whittlesey and Conklin that Simon eventually turned for the creation of the Reston Master Plan. The firm of Whittlesey and Conklin (now Conklin and Rossant) deserves the major credit for the distinguished plan which today guides the development of Reston.

Convinced that his master plan should be shaped by innovative land use, Simon envisioned Reston as a well-balanced community, not merely another subdivision. He wanted Reston to be a unique, private real estate venture which would integrate residences, industry, commerce, schools, churches, cultural institutions, social and recreational facilities in an essentially independent community structure which would be economically viable and socially desirable.

Faced with conventional zoning ordinances in Fairfax County which segregated residential, industrial and commercial use, Simon had to formulate his own code in order to make his dream become reality.

"Our present zoning ordinances are largely responsible for the diffusion of our communities into separate, unrelated hunks without focus, identity, or community life," Simon said. "They have helped produce chaos on our highways, monotony in our subdivisions, ugliness in our shopping centers. They are to blame for the whole neon-lighted wasteland that exists because of the subdivision's separation from commercial and recreational facilities."

Simon dreamed of a cohesive community made possible by mixed density zoning. "Mixed land use reduces the distance between homes and offices, stores, community facilities, and recreation. It provides day and night use of the same areas and facilities, which is more efficient economically, more interesting aesthetically, and safer. Mixed land use gives the developer greater flexibility. He can construct garden apartments, high-rise buildings, and townhouses in a way appropriate to the topography of the land. And mixed land use saves space, which makes additional facilities
possible."

Assisted by economic, social, legal and political consultants, and armed with a creative master plan based on sinews of high density linking seven village centers and a town center, Bob Simon presented his bold innovation to Fairfax County.

In June 1962, the Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County adopted into law Residential Planned Community (RPC) zoning.

Based on population density distribution, the RPC code allows the land to be divided into density areas: high (60 people per acre), medium (14 per acre), and low (3.8 per acre), and permits apartments above stores, high-rise with townhouses, and the spread of commercial, recreation and community facilities throughout. Under this zoning code, the developer must submit a master plan to the county and maintain an overall maximum density of thirteen people per gross residential acre.

“We started with a program rather than a plan,” Simon said. “We asked what people could be offered when they moved here, rather than what we were going to do with the land. It was like Christmas. Whatever we could dream up, we would write down. And, in the end, we actually used many of the ideas we wrote down.”

The physical plan that emerged came from the concept that people came first. The usual concentric, bull’s eye plan, with densest areas in the center and a green belt around the outside was avoided. Successes and mistakes of new town building in Europe and Britain were carefully studied. Open space in Reston, it was decided, would be used for recreation rather than protection, as in other new towns.

Simon wanted to make these open space areas as accessible as possible to all residents. This desire sparked the Whittlesey and Conklin plan for high density sinews that wind through the property from north to south. This plan brought all residents within walking distance of these recreation areas.

The Reston master plan called for seven village centers which would provide convenience shops and community facilities for 10 to 12,000 and serve as the focal point of each neighborhood. 42% of the gross acreage was left to the public factor, which included open space, roads, parks, golf courses, walkways, schools and churches. A town center was established which, when built, would service not only Reston’s expected 75,000+ population, but an additional 50,000 people as well. 1000 acres, in the heart of the property, were set aside for an industrial center.

By the spring of 1963, working drawings were in order and detailed plans had been approved by the County for construction of Lake Anne Village Center, Reston’s pilot project.

A substantial loan from the Gulf Oil Corporation early in 1963 enabled Simon to put into operation the elaborate machine which he had started two years before.
RESTON, VIRGINIA, INC.  
1963-1967:

The first project was the building of 30 acre Lake Anne. Carved out of a natural water-shed area, 94,000 cubic yards of earth were moved to create a 45 foot high by 500 foot earth dam. Completed in August 1963, at a cost of close to a quarter of a million dollars, the Lake Anne dam impounded the waters of Colvin Run and the lake began to fill.

By the time the dam was completed, work had already begun on Reston's first 18-hole golf course. Designed by golf course architect Edmund B. Ault, the Reston North Golf Course was over 7,000 championship yards. An entire underground irrigation system was put in, drawing water from newly-formed Lake Anne.

Throughout the spring of 1963, construction began on the shops, apartments and townhouses of Lake Anne Village Center, designed by master planners Conklin and Rossant. Simultaneous construction began on the first two townhouse clusters: Waterview Cluster, 90 townhouses designed by Washington architect Cloethiel W. Smith, and Hickory Cluster, 90 townhouses designed by Charles M. Goodman. This initial project included 227 townhouses, 113 rental apartments, including 15-story Heron House, and approximately 50,000 square feet of commercial space.

During this same period of time, three different projects were set in motion. In May of 1963, Reston's first residential sales office, known simply as the "Roundhouse", started pushing up its walls on the hillside overlooking Route 606. It was located on the road which was at that time the sole entrance to the growing village center from the highway.

A mile away, siting and grading started on the Group Facilities Complex in the heart of the 1,300 acres set aside for government and industry. Located along the Washington &
Old Dominion right-of-way, across the valley from the Bowman Distillery, the Group Facilities Complex was immediately adjacent to the newly graded fairways of the first golf course. During the following spring, construction began on the first 33,000 square foot shell building of what was soon to emerge as Isaac Newton Square.

Meanwhile, down at the southern tip of Reston's eleven square mile boundary, siting and initial road grading began off Route 602 (now Reston Avenue) in Hunters Woods Village. Simon was persuaded by the County planners to concentrate his low density areas around the periphery of the 7,400 acres. He felt it important to begin selling lots for detached, single family homes in Hunters Woods Village in case the cluster concept of Lake Anne Village was not acceptable to the metropolitan Washington market.

As work commenced in Hunters Woods Village, Simon and his legal counselors worked on the Deeds of Dedication and By-Laws for Reston's First and Second Homeowners Associations: the First to serve the area north of the Dulles Access Road, the Second to serve the area south.

The principal role of the associations was to care for the land and facilities designated for community use and common ownership: i.e. open spaces, swimming pools, tennis courts, Lake Anne. A secondary role of the associations was to enforce the covenants set forth in the Deed of Dedication which is part of the title to each parcel of Reston land. The covenants dealt with the external appearance of property and empowered an Architectural Review Board to approve plans for all non-developer construction.

The Reston North Golf Course opened for play in May 1964, and during its first season averaged 1,000 rounds per week. Shortly thereafter, construction began on the 40-stall Reston South Riding Center in Hunters Woods Village. At the same time, a number of single family homes began to emerge out of the woods opposite the Riding Center.

Two days before Thanksgiving, 1964, the Reston Industrial Division welcomed its first tenant—the Air Survey Corporation, an aerial photographic and photogrammetric engineering firm with 30 employees—into the Group Facilities Complex.

Two weeks later, on December 9th, the Residential Sales Division greeted Reston's first citizens, a couple who purchased a Waterview Cluster townhouse on the shores of Lake Anne. Industry had preceded the people.

Five days later, on December 14th, Reston's second industrial tenant, HRB-Singer, Inc., a division of the Singer Company, moved into their laboratory facility on a five-acre wooded site in the Industrial Center.

By February 1965, the entire commercial space available in the Lake Anne Village Center had been leased. The leases included a pharmacy, Fairfax County branch library, a decorator studio, hairstylist, hardware store and garden shop, dry cleaners, barber shop, restaurant, art supply store, card and gift shop, supermarket, and children's store. In addition, space in the first office building was quickly rented out to a life insurance company, a bank, a lawyer and two dentists.

By the time Lake Anne Village Center was officially opened on December 4th, 1965, two community swimming pools, four tennis courts, a volleyball court, numerous playgrounds, a pedestrian underpass and several miles of pedestrian walkways, the first 18-hole golf course, a riding center, a fifteen story high rise, 227 townhouses, 113 apartments and approximately 100 single family detached homes, not to mention the village center itself, had all been completed. In addition, seven industries had signed up for occupancy in the Industrial Center and four were actually in operation, employing over 250 people. Residential population was approximately 500.

Throughout 1964 and 1965, the John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company had been
Gulf Oil Corporation stepped in.

Writing in THE WASHINGTON POST in November 1967, Robert L. Durham, President, American Institute of Architects, pinpointed exactly the problems facing those who wish to build a community from the ground up, including all the social institutions:

“It would be a mistake to believe that Reston’s current problems raise questions about the viability of the New Town movement, or about Reston’s design. The project difficulties stem from neither of these sources. They reflect the fact that in the U.S. we have not yet faced up to the special kind of financing needed by New Towns. Contrary to other kinds of construction projects, a New Town by its nature must provide for a long lead-time between investment and returns—a time when costly community facilities and amenities, plus payments, taxes and land carrying cost in general will deplete early capital and there will be insufficient income to replace it.”

Gulf Oil Corporation had been studying Reston’s profit potential from the very earliest days. It was their initial investment in the spring of 1963 that enabled Bob Simon to go from blueprint to bulldozer. Gulf saw promise in the professionally planned community as an investment as well as a means of demonstrating the company’s interest in the orderly development of New Towns in the U.S. with private funds and experienced management.

As an international company operating around the world, Gulf had been observing over the past several decades the sociological impact of the New Towns being built in Sweden, Finland, Scotland and England. Gulf Oil was no newcomer to the world of town planning: a wealth of experience in designing and building complete towns all over the world provided financial and managerial insight.
GULF RESTON, INC.
1967-1969:

Gulf formed a subsidiary, Gulf Reston, Inc., to take over the planning, construction, financing and sales of the new community within the framework of the original master plan. On September 28, 1967, Gulf took over full financial and operational responsibility.

One of Gulf Reston’s first goals was to accelerate development. More people were needed to fill jobs, more industry was needed to attract people. The entire process—planning, county approval, construction and marketing—had to be stepped up. It was decided that a constant minimum of 1,000 residential units a year had to be reached in order to make Reston turn the financial corner.

1968 was a year of acceleration. Some 800 units of all types were completed. Reston’s population soared over the 5,000 mark. Ten major new industries came into the Industrial Center, and 108,000 square feet of lease space was constructed in Isaac Newton Square, including the construction of the 30,000 square foot Newton Building in the heart of the complex. The Reston industrial population jumped to 1,400. Reston’s second church, the Washington Plaza Baptist Church, was completed in the Lake Anne Village Center.

Long-awaited monies from the Department of Housing and Urban Development finally became a reality, and for the first time in Reston, construction began on moderate income housing.

The Reston Community Association (RCA), a volunteer membership group directed toward the creation and establishment of community programs, was formed. In March 1968, active members of this organization inaugurated Reston’s first Express Commuter Bus system. This embryonic mass transportation system was started on a shoestring with little subsidization from either developer or bus company.
This commuter bus system has since gained national recognition and set a national precedent for citizen action in the improvement of mass urban transportation.

In 1969, 1,200 residential units were completed and Reston’s 7,500 population was evenly distributed among apartments, town and patio houses, and single family homes.

By the end of 1969, 30 industries were located in the Industrial Center with a working population of 2,000. A graduate extension of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute (VPI), a branch bank and a 300-seat cafeteria opened in the Newton Building, Isaac Newton Square. And an advanced group from the U. S. Geological Survey started operations in a Reston-based facility.

Five swimming pools and eight tennis courts were completed as of December 1969. Reston’s paved walkway system, with seven pedestrian underpasses, totaled over ten miles in length. And the Hunters Woods Elementary School, Reston’s second elementary school, opened at the start of the 1969 school season.

Construction on the second 18-hole golf course neared completion. Plans were announced for the 21 acre Reston Inn and Conference Center Complex, located adjacent to the second 18-hole golf course. The plans for this Complex included an Inn with approximately 300 guest rooms, 25,000 square feet of seminar-meeting rooms, a 205,000 square foot high-rise office building, a 700 seat twin cinema, and 15,000 square feet of retail commercial space. Working drawings were also started on Reston’s second village center in Hunters Woods Village.

Twenty-seven months after the subsidiary was formed, Gulf Reston, Inc. had pumped new blood into an anemic development program, sharply reversing a critical cash position. In that short span of time, 2,000 residential units had been completed, consistent with early management goals, and population figures had jumped from 2,500 to 7,500.

Ten new major firms opened their doors in the Industrial Center in 1969 alone, and the industrial population pushed to the 2,000 mark.

As a strong signal of confidence in this improved climate, The Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, in October 1969, signed a long-term mortgage agreement, for existing income-producing properties, with Gulf Reston, Inc. in the amount of $10,500,000. Not only did this resource come at a time of extremely tight money, but the commitment evidenced the ability of Gulf Reston, Inc. to perform as a recognized and independent real estate developer.

Finally, the apparent success of Gulf’s intercession must be measured by the fact that, contrary to the early fears of some Reston citizens, Gulf’s management supported the innovative master plan as a continuing guide to each new developmental phase.
1970 will long be remembered as the year of economic depression. With the White House sitting on one of the worst inflationary spirals in history, a tight lid was clamped on mortgage and lending markets. Everyone felt the squeeze of nation-wide spending cutbacks. But hardest hit by tight money was the housing industry. With an estimated 26 million new homes needed in the 70's alone, housing starts fell far behind the 1.7 million units hoped for in 1970.

Contrary to this trend, 1970 registered some impressive gains for Gulf Reston, Inc., and the development of Reston, Virginia.

HOUSING:

Housing was a significant part of the success story. Aided by lending money and stand-by commitments from the parent Gulf Oil Company, Gulf Reston kept sales moving at a good pace during the most severe postwar credit crisis.

In twelve months, Reston's population jumped from 7,500 to 11,250—a 50 per cent increase over December, 1969. Five hundred and fifty-five apartments, 328 townhouses and patio homes, and 272 detached homes were completed in 1970 for a grand total of 1,155 living units.

November residential sales set an all-time Reston record for one month—$2,800,000 which was double the November, 1969, volume and triple the same month in 1968.

In November another precedent was set: Northgate Square, Reston's first cluster of townhouses with FHA/VA financing went on the market. Two to five-bedroom townhouses ranged from a low of $26,350 up to $37,250. For the first time in Reston's history, a family could buy a home with no money down.

As a result of this market expansion, a large number of families living in Reston rented units purchased their first home. Sales started briskly from floorplans and models in a trailer at the building site. By the end of 1970, even before the grand opening of Northgate in January, 1971, almost half of the 80 townhouses had been sold.

Another portion of the housing success story occurred in the area of low and moderate income housing.

One hundred and ninety-eight low and moderate income units, in a garden apartment complex called Cedar Ridge, were completed in May, 1970. Built with financing made available under the 221(d)(3) Section of the 1968 Federal Housing Act, Cedar Ridge demonstrated Gulf Reston's willingness to forego profits on the land in order to establish a sound housing mix.

Writing about Reston's Cedar Ridge in his architectural column in the April 6 WASHINGTON POST, critic Wolf Von Eckardt stated: "The Federal government has an official policy of promoting integrated new communities, and a lofty goal of building more low-cost housing. Yet, it seems that Gulf, which is in business to make money, shows a greater sense of urgency than the government about having blue-collar workers, barbers, mailmen and even some people on welfare live in the same town with well-paid researchers, managers and GS-15 civil servants."

Rents in Cedar Ridge ran from $120 for a two-bedroom apartment (for families earning between $6,000 and $9,400) to $165 for a four-bedroom unit (available to families with incomes ranging from $7,900 to $12,200). Ten of the 198 units, interspersed throughout the complex, were designated for public housing families and leased to the Fairfax County Housing Authority. Qualified families could rent one of the $165 four-bedroom apartments for $90, with the Fairfax County Public Housing Authority making up the difference.

With only word-of-mouth promotion, Cedar
Ridge opened its first units to the public in the fall of 1969. By year end all 198 units had been rented, and two months later there was a waiting list of 150 families.

In February, 1970, ground was broken near the entrance of Lake Anne Village for the construction of Fellowship House. Reston’s first housing project for senior citizens—the first housing project of its kind in an American new town.

Sponsored and managed by Fellowship Square Foundation, Inc., a non-profit corporation, Fellowship House was built with monies obtained under Title 202 of the National Housing Act of 1968.

The 138-unit, nine-story highrise offered efficiency, studio, one and two-bedroom apartments for singles or couples of any race, color or creed over 55 years of age with incomes not exceeding $5,400. Rents ranged from $99.50 to $126.50.

Like Cedar Ridge, Fellowship House contributed to Reston’s growing population mix. By the end of 1970, 80 per cent of the units were rented.

INDUSTRY:

Integral with the bright Reston housing scene in 1970 was an unprecedented year of industrial and commercial sales. By December, 1970, more than 100 businesses and industries, associations and educational institutions, government agencies and professional services as well as shops and stores were located in Reston.

One of the major news stories to come out of the year 1970 was the announcement that the Nation’s largest educational association, the National Education Association, and ten national affiliates had purchased 56 acres of the campus-like Reston Center for Associations and Educational Institutions adjoining the site of Reston’s Inn and Conference Center complex.

James D. Gates, Executive Secretary of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, and coordinator of the NEA move to Reston, stated the following reasons for coming to Reston: “The site of the Educational Park, located next to the Dulles Expressway, five miles from Dulles International Airport, adjacent to the Inn and Conference Center and public golf course, was one of our primary reasons for selecting Reston.

“Reston has consistently appeared as the number one choice, not only of independent study groups sponsored by the associations but also of two consulting firms employed by the associations to review possible sites for relocation because of the inadequacy of present facilities in Washington, D.C.

“We were attracted to Reston because of the open space, community facilities and attention given the environment. It affords us flexibility, room for development and planning for the future.

“Another very important factor is the availability of housing for different income groups. We would like to be able to help provide jobs for people, traditionally bound to the inner city, in a rural environment—in an area of planned development—such as Reston,” Gates concluded.

In October, 1970, the Board of Directors of the American Newspaper Publishers Association made public their decision to move the ANPA headquarters from 750 Third Avenue, New York City, to ten acres in Reston’s Center for Associations and Educational Institutions. This decision was the culmination of more than two years of extensive study and location review by the ANPA Board.

In making the announcement, Stanford Smith, ANPA General Manager, said, “Reston was selected from three different locations under consideration because of its ideal proximity both to the U.S. Government departments in Washington and because of Dulles Airport. The ten-minute drive from Dulles to our headquarters location will provide greater ease of membership contact with ANPA headquarters than our present location in midtown Manhattan. FAA studies indicate that Dulles will possibly become the largest airport on the East Coast in the next 15 years.”

1970: MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS

ARCHITECTURAL AWARDS:

In January, 1970, at an awards ceremony Washington Plaza, Centreville District Supervisor Martha V. Pennino presented to Gulf Reston
President William H. Magness a bronze plaque — the highest recognition in the County’s First Annual Beautification Awards Program. Selected from over 30 applications and cited for its “fortuitous blending of architecture, site planning and landscaping as a focal center for the community of Reston,” the Lake Anne Village Center was awarded one of three bronze plaques by the Fairfax County Government.

Six months later at an awards ceremony luncheon in Fairfax Dr. William S. Hoofnagle, Chairman of the County Board of Supervisors, presented another bronze plaque to Mr. Magness in highest recognition of the County’s First Industrial Beautification Awards Program.

A special category — Mixed Commercial and Industrial Award — was created by the panel of judges to recognize the Newton Building in Isaac Newton Square and the Professional Building located at 11401 North Shore Drive at the entrance to Lake Anne Village. The Reston plaque was one of four awarded to industrial facilities within the County judged to have been “designed, constructed, landscaped, and maintained so as to enhance their immediate environment and the County as a whole.”

LAND AND FACILITIES DEEDED TO RESTON HOMEOWNERS:
In the early days of 1970, Gulf Reston deeded over to the Home Owners Association a total of $600,000 worth of debt-free recreational facilities, walkways, bridges, parks, lakes and open space. This included seven swimming pools, 18 tennis courts, a riding stable and 280 acres of lakes and open space.

In August, a $90,000 pedestrian overpass at the intersection of North Shore Drive and Wiehle Avenue was dedicated to the Home Owners Association.

TWO GOLF COURSES IN RESTON:
On June 1, 1970, the Reston North Golf Course was transformed into a private Reston Golf and Country Club. A championship 18-hole, par 71 course, the North Course first opened to the public in the summer of 1964.

An extensive addition to the existing clubhouse provided for the new Country Club a formal dining room, dance floor, cocktail lounge and grill, room, exercise suites, sauna baths, an olympic-size six-lane indoor pool, indoor handball and squash courts, and a golf pro shop. In addition, two all-weather outdoor tennis courts were installed.

On the same day a new 18-hole, par 72, 6,700 yard South Golf Course was officially opened to the public on Sunset Hills Road across from the site of the Reston Inn and Conference Center complex.

SELF-GOVERNMENT IN RESTON:
In April, 1970, after a Reston citizen-wide vote, the First and Second Home Owners Associations, organized when Reston was first founded in 1963, became officially consolidated into one organization, the Reston Home Owners Association.

One month later citizens went to the polls to elect five representatives to Reston’s first two Village Councils. The Lake Anne and Hunters Woods Village Councils then elected their own chairmen who automatically sat on Reston’s first Town Council. Three citizen Board members from the Reston Home Owners Association made up the balance of the Town Council.

GRADUATE STUDIES IN RESTON:
In July, 1970, the Gulf Reston Executive Offices were moved into new and expanded quarters at 11440 Isaac Newton Square, North. The former office space, a converted farm house on Spring Street and the site of the Executive Offices since Reston’s origin in 1961, was renovated and leased to the Graduate Studies Center of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University (VPI).

Located in temporary quarters in the Newton Building since 1968, VPI opened the Fall Semester, 1970, with 250 students in seven graduate degree programs.

In August a graduate study center aimed at exploring and solving the problems of new communities was officially designated by Virginia Governor Linwood Holton to be located in Reston.
1971: FINAL MASTER PLAN GOAL FULFILLED

1971 was a year of imposing gains and strong growth for the new town of Reston. This year marked a significant milestone. For the first time in its ten year history— and only four years after Gulf Reston, Inc. was formed—a positive cash flow was established and a margin of profit was seen in the operating budget.

1971 was the year of fulfilling the final Master plan goal— financial success. In 48 months Gulf Reston had proved that a new town could be a profitable venture.

Reston’s population grew from 11,250 in December, 1970 to 16,000 by the end of 1971. Projections called for 25,000 by the end of 1972.

1971 saw 300 townhouses and patio homes, 460 detached homes and 700 apartment units completed in Reston. By year’s end, the number of living units stood at 4,500 — four times the number of units existing when GRI’s management of the new town began in September, 1967.

1971 was a year of history-making for Reston housing growth.

HOUSING:

Reston residential property sales by July 5 had eclipsed the entire 1970 volume. By the middle of November they had cleared the $40 million mark, shattering all previous sales records.

Installation of Reston’s first modular townhouse units (Golf Course Village) began shortly before the end of the year.

Footings for Glenvale, Reston (and the Washington area’s) first FHA condominium garden apartments for sale, were poured early in the last month of the year. These were Reston’s first units for sale under $23,000.

Construction was started in the Fall on Reston’s first FHA (236) moderate income garden apartments (Fox Mill).

Reston’s first townhouses were built south of the Dulles Expressway (Southgate Square). Just before the close of 1971, it was announced that 50% of the first 126 units released for sale had already been sold. Construction was started on the first townhouses on the South Golf Course (Hunters Green). 1971 was also a history-making year for substantial industrial and commercial development in Reston south of the Dulles Expressway.

INDUSTRY:

On February 10, 1971, a major milestone was reached with the formal opening of the western access ramps to the Dulles Expressway at the Reston Avenue overpass. For the very first time, Restonians had access and egress to that ribbon of Federal asphalt which had run enticingly through their midst for close to ten years.

At the dedication ceremonies, William H. Magness stated that “the opening of these ramps today signifies Reston’s continuing efforts to do away with antiquated and inefficient systems and to pioneer new improvements for the American quality of life.”

On March 14, ground was broken for the $10 million International Inn and Conference Center Complex.

In March, construction was also started on Reston’s second Village Center — Hunters Woods. Already 65% leased when construction started, this 109,000 square foot village center and covered mall located on Colt’s Neck Road, was designed to feature: the incorporation of community facilities — medical center, site for a community building, and a large fountain which converts to an ice rink during the winter months; the integration of residential and commercial land use — site for senior citizen high rise, townhouses and garden apartments; and the replacement of traditional store-front signs with colorful, overhanging banners.

On December 18, the Hunters Woods Village Center was officially topped out with a Dickensian Christmas party involving new merchants and Reston residents.

On June 2, with Virginia Governor Linwood Holton as guest of honor, ground was broken a few hundred yards down Sunrise Valley Drive from the Inn and Conference Center site signalling the start of construction for the American Newspaper Publisher’s headquarters building.

On July 29, Gulf Reston President, William H. Magness, Secretary of the Interior, Rogers C. B. Morton; GSA Administrator, Robert L. Kunzlig; and Virginia Congressman, William L. Scott, officiated at groundbreaking ceremonies for the $54 million national center for the U.S. Geological Survey.

The Geological Survey, largest scientific agency of the Interior Department, fragmented with 26 different office locations, had waited 35 years for a home of its own.

Mr. Morton at the groundbreaking said, “Our coming to Reston represents a long-needed solution to problems caused by inadequate and fragmented quarters... The new facility is one that will blend harmoniously into Reston’s bold and dynamic social concept. Our plans involve the careful integration of this scientific center into a living community. Reston will not just be a place where people will work, it will be a place where people will live.” By year’s end, the USGS headquarters building was more than 15% complete.

On October 1, it was announced that the American Press Institute (API), located on the campus of Columbia University, would leave New York and move to Reston.

The Institute is a non-profit organization which, since 1946, has held an annual series of seminars to contribute to the improvement of daily
newspapers. Its programs have been attended by more than 7,400 newspaper executives and staff members from all 50 states, the District of Columbia and nine provinces of Canada.

The decision to purchase four acres adjacent to the ANPA site in Reston's Center for Associations and Educational Institutions was made by the API Advisory Board after a thorough study of seven different sites in the U.S.

Walter Everett, API Executive Director, said that Reston was selected because: Washington, like New York, is central to those states from which API draws the greatest number of seminar members; because Washington is the news center of the Nation, with professional resources of interest and value to newspaper men and women; and because Reston represents a forward-looking concept in community planning, is convenient to reach by air, and is the center for a growing number of educational and newspaper-related organizations.

In December, ground was broken in the 27-acre Center for Educational Associations — contiguous to the eastern property line of the ANPA property — for the headquarters building of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, and the National Association of Secondary School Principals.

AWARDS:

1971 was also a year for awards. On May 24, William Houseman, Editor and Publisher of THE ENVIRONMENT MONTHLY, New York City, presented to Gulf Reston, Inc. and the Reston Nature Center, one of 24 awards given to U.S. Corporations who had made "environmental excellence a basic condition in the pursuit of corporate goals." The Reston award — for Environmental Education — was presented to William Magness and Vernon Walker, Nature Center Director. Walker received special recognition because of his enlightened leadership and initiative in turning the entire Reston community into a workshop for environmental and ecological education.

FORMATION OF NEW COMPANY:

Impressed by Reston's strong pattern of growth in the past four years, the Board of Directors of the Gulf Oil Corporation made a significant decision. On September 9, 1971, GOC Executive Vice President William L. Henry, announced the formation of a new subsidiary — Gulf Oil Real Estate Development Company (GOREDCO) — with international headquarters to be located in Reston. GRI President, William H. Magness, was named President and Chairman of the Board. Glenn W. Saunders, Jr. was named Executive Vice President for GOREDCO, and J. W. Guinee, Jr. was appointed Executive Vice President for GRI.

The new company was to be responsible for all ventures in real estate planning and development by GOC except those relating to oil production, manufacturing and product sales. In addition, Gulf Oil Real Estate was to be responsible for all existing Gulf surplus properties for development, use or disposition, and advise other Gulf units on real estate matters.

Speaking of Reston's success and its influence on making the decision to form GOREDCO, Mr. Henry said "We are pleased with the progress Reston has made since we became involved with this new town concept. And we believe there is great potential in this field."

SUMMARY:

1971 was a year of unprecedented financial achievement. Reston had come of age only 48 months after Gulf Reston, Inc. was formed. The expertise gained in Reston's development enabled the Gulf Oil Corporation to launch a Real Estate Development Company. For the first time, Gulf Oil Corporation could analyze its own sizable land holdings from the vantage point of optimum land utilization and profit potential aided by the Reston experience.

Gulf's original investment, which launched
Reston early in 1963, was now beginning to pay significant dividends.

The turbulent sixties had brought unprecedented social change. Corporations began to look at society and the rapidly deteriorating natural environment with a new sense of responsibility. There was a new national emphasis on the importance of being human.

Speaking before the National Association of Accountants, B. R. Dorsey, President of the Gulf Oil Corporation, said, “Today, maximum financial gain, the historical number one objective, is forced into second place whenever it conflicts with the well-being of society. We now must examine the proposition that the first responsibility of business is to operate for the well-being of society... This is the major shift of responsibility that has occurred for business and it is the challenge that we face...”

Reston was an obvious extension of Gulf Oil’s intense interest in meeting the challenge of social responsibility and the importance of being human.

1972: GROWTH CONTINUES ON SCHEDULE.

1972 saw the surging growth of Reston continue. The trend of financial success begun in 1971 accelerated and Gulf Reston obtained major financing on its own. This enabled Gulf Reston to repay all Gulf Oil Corporation monies lent to finance Reston development.

Population increased by 35% to over 20,000 people by year end.

And more than 1,500 town houses, patio homes, condominiums and apartment units completed during the year brought to 6,000 the total number of living units in the new town.

Considering the 1972 construction rate, growth in the succeeding year promised to be even more impressive.

HOUSING

The original Reston goal of offering “a place for everyone to live” became more of a reality in 1972. Not only did sales increase over 1971 by almost 30%, but the diversity of living unit types also increased.

Fox Mill Apartments, Reston’s first FHA (236) moderate income living units, were completed during the year.

So were a portion of the 204 Glenvale garden condominiums, the first homes for sale in Reston under $23,000.

And 1972 brought the announcement of the intent of the Fairfax County Housing Authority to subsidize, and a private corporation to build, 50 apartments for low income families on land adjacent to the U.S. Geological Survey Headquarters.

The Reston Interfaith Housing Corporation also announced plans to construct 200 low to moderate income apartments in Hunters Woods.

In all, residential construction in 1972 was up 200% over the preceding year with 2,108 residential starts versus 1,100 in 1971.
INDUSTRIAL

1972 was also a year of solid gains in Reston’s industrial and commercial growth.

By year end, over 170 businesses and associations were operating in the new town.

Triangle Park, a mini-industrial park for business and light industry, opened in the Fall. Optical and Electronic Research became the first tenant using the new module shell space.

In September, the topping out ceremony for the
Reston International Center was held.

A month later, the American Newspaper Publishers Association formally dedicated their new national headquarters, situated on 10 acres in the Reston Center for Associations and Educational Institutions.

Clearing began on the 4-acre American Press Institute site between American Newspaper Publishers Association and the International Center.

1972 also saw rapid progress made toward the completion of the U.S. Geological Survey’s million square foot Headquarters Building.

The variety of shops, stores, and services available in Reston widened considerably during the year.

Many new shops and stores opened throughout the community including the first gourmet shop and the first antique shop in Lake Anne Village.

By far the biggest commercial event of the year was the December grand opening of the Hunters Woods Village Center, Reston’s second village center. The 109,000 sq. ft. covered shopping mall was dedicated in a festival atmosphere that featured a 16th Century Elizabethan Renaissance theme. For the event, the entire center was converted into a bustling and boisterous Renaissance Ha’Penny Market complete with jugglers, street musicians, townfolk, hawkers and rogues. Thousands of Reston and Washington area residents, many dressed in Elizabethan period costumes, enjoyed performances on a recreated Elizabethan stage by the Reston Players, the Folger Theatre Group, The Federal City College Theatre Group, a puppet troupe, Howard University’s Contact Africa and the Georgetown Theatre.

With the plan having been approved for Reston’s third village center, Tall Oaks, Restonians closed out 1972 anticipating even more shopping choices and another grand opening.

MASS TRANSPORTATION

1972 brought Reston two important breakthroughs in mass transportation.

In February, the Federal Department of Transportation gave permission for Reston commuter bus access to the Dulles Expressway. Gulf Reston President Magness, in announcing the development, stated that “approximately 600 of our citizens ride 17 buses to and from the District each day. This conscious effort to support the bus system has greatly reduced the traffic load on both Northern Virginia highways and District of Columbia roads. We’re happy that the Department of Transportation has made the effort to recognize a viable mass transit solution.”

1972 also saw the beginning of the Common Ground’s community, intra-Reston mini-bus service. Serving two routes, one in Lake Anne and one in Hunters Woods, the new bus proved very successful in its first year.

AWARDS

1972 was a year for more awards.

On May 23, William E. Houseman, Editor of the Environment Monthly, presented Gulf Reston a citation for environmental excellence in land use. Houseman stated that while Reston had grown into a community of 20,000 in less than ten years, it had nevertheless preserved nearly 50% of the 7,400 acres in functional open space.

In the 1972 Finest for Family Living Contest sponsored by the Metropolitan Builders Association, Gulf Reston was also awarded an Oscar for the Southgate Square Townhouses.

Later in the year, William Magness was awarded a Certificate of Merit by the American Forestry Association in recognition of his “outstanding contribution to American conservation through tree planting in Reston, Virginia.”